IV. REGIONAL POSTCONTACT HISTORY

The postcontact history of the Middle Atlantic region begins with the arrival of the first
substantial numbers of European groups to North America. In general, the postcontact
historical past of Delaware is divided into six significant time periods that span from the
arrival of European explorers to the area, to modern times. These divisions are; Exploration
and Frontier Settlement (A.D. 1630 - A.D. 1730), the Intensified and Durable Occupation
(A.D. 1730 - A.D. 1770), Transformation from Colony to State (A.D. 1770 - A.D. 1830),
Industrialization and Capitalization (A.D. 1830 - A.D. 1880), Urbanization and
Suburbanization (A.D. 1880 - A.D. 1940), and Suburbanization and Early Ex-Urbanization
Period (1940 to 1960). The following discussion of the regional history of Delaware has
been abstracted from De Cunzo and Catts (1990); Catts and Kellogg (2000); and Arnold
(2000). Figure 8through Figure 11 present a series of historic maps of the region.

A. Exploration and Frontier Settlement (A.D. 1630 - A.D. 1730)

In 1609, Henry Hudson, the captain of the “Half Moon”, was commissioned by the Dutch
East India Company to discover a water route through North Americato East India. On this
expedition, Hudson sailed along the coastline of present-day New Jersey and eventually
landed at present-day Sandy Hook (Dorwart 1993). According to the journal of Robert Juet,
an officer aboard the “Half Moon”, the vessel entered the mouth of the Delaware Bay’ but
tides and shoals discouraged Hudson from further exploring the bay (Dorwart 1993; Scott
1991). In 1610, on an expedition led by Samuel Argall, the bay was named after Thomas
West, Lord De LaWarre, the Governor of Virginia (Dorwart 1993).

Shortly thereafter, Dutch, English, and Spanish explorers sailed to this region in search of
potential trading opportunities. Among these first explorers was Cornelius Jacobsen Mey,
the Dutch captain of the “Glad Tidings’. Between 1613 and 1624, Mey explored the bay
waters between Delaware and New Jersey. During his explorations, he discovered New
Jersey’s Cape May, which bears his name, and Cape Hindlopen (Henlopen). Interestingly,
the landform that Mey named Henlopen, was not the location of present-day Cape Henlopen
but actually Fenwick Island. The name “Henlopen” was later reassigned to its present
location east of Lewes.

Between 1624 and 1630, the Dutch established several small trading posts along the
Delaware River, then named South River (whereas the Hudson River was “North River). In
comparison, colonization of the Delaware Valley area held less interest to the Dutch who
focused on more commercia opportunities such as fishing, trade, and fur trapping (Dorwart
1993).

Phase | Archaeological Survey Report —BR 159 over James Street Project 26



The British also conducted early reconnaissance expeditions of the Middle Atlantic area. In
1634, Thomas Y ong reached the Delaware River. In his searching for a northwest passage to
the Pacific Ocean, Yong sailed up the Delaware River to as far as Trenton Falls. During his
travels, Yong provided Britain with reports on the regional environment (Wacker 1975).

Throughout the first half of the seventeenth century, the Middle Atlantic region attracted the
interest of many entrepreneurs, including several directors of the West India Company who
intended to develop whaling industries (Dorwart 1993).

In 1631, the Dutch first established a settlement near the port of Lewes, Delaware. Dutch sea
captain David Pietersen De Vries started this whaling community and named it Zwaanendagl,
meaning “Valley of the Swans’. The settlers of Zwaanendael, lead by Captain Peter Heyes
of the ship “De Walvis’ (The Whale), consisted of about thirty individuals from the Dutch
town of Hoorn. In 1632, De Vries left and Native Americans allegedly decimated the
remaining Europeansin the colony (http://www.co.sussex.de.us/historical/index.html).

In 1633, Swedish and Dutch merchants formed the New Sweden Company under the
Swedish Crown. The New Sweden Company financed several endeavors including two
ships led by Peter Minuit, the Kalmar Nyckel (Key of Kalmar) and her companion the V ogel
Grip (Griffin). In 1638, the ships arrived in the Delaware River area (McCormick 1964;
Weslager 1987). That same year, twenty-four of the ships passengers established
Delaware’s first permanent European settlement, Fort Christing, in present-day Wilmington.
The settlement, named after the Queen of Sweden, was located at the confluence Brandywine
and Christina Creeks. Swedish and Finnish immigrants, mainly farmers and traders, began to
settle areas around it, and Fort Christina soon began to function as socio-economic center of
an area known as “New Sweden”.

Between 1641 and 1649, the New Sweden Company continued to pursue opportunities on
both sides of the Delaware River. During thistime, control of the Delaware Valley remained
a continuous competition between the Dutch and the Swedes (Cunningham 1994). Aside
from occasional explorers and settlers, the Swedish settlements remained on the Delaware
side of the river (Cunningham 1994).

Between 1643 and 1653, Governor Colonel Johan Printz ruled Delaware’ s Swedish colony.
In 1651, the Dutch constructed Fort Casmir at the present-day town of New Castle under the
direction of the Governor of the Colony of New Netherlands to prevent Sweden’'s from
gaining commercial control of the Delaware River. In 1654, Johan Rising, Printz’' s successor
seized the Dutch post of Fort Casmir and renamed it Fort Trinity. In retaliation, Peter
Stuyvesant dispatched a Dutch fleet from New Amsterdam (New York) and took over
Delaware’s Swedish forts, Fort Trinity and Fort Christina included. After reinstating the
name Fort Casmir, the Dutch proceeded to make the fort into the principal settlement of the
Delaware River.

In 1657, the City of Amsterdam acquired Fort Casimir from the West India Company and
developed the area around it into New Amstel, a town that would eventually become New
Castle.
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Around this time, the Dutch also became increasingly wary of English settlements around the
Chesapeake Bay and Virginia. Dutch concern was justifiable since Lord Baltimore regarded
the Chesapeake Bay’s eastern shore as well as much of western Delaware to be under his
proprietorship (Somerset County). In 1659, the Dutch constructed a small fort named
Whorekil (aka Hoerenkil, Horekill, Hoorekill) at the mouth of the Delaware Bay near Lewes
to maintain watch on English settlement in the area.

During the second half of the seventeenth century, areas beyond the immediate outskirts of
forts and hamlets began to increase with the patenting of tracts and estates of varying sizes.
Noted early settlements long the Christina River in New Castle Hundred include Long Hook,
Jacquett’s, Swart Nutten's Island, and Lewden’s Island. The names of early and large
landholders of both Christiana (e.g. Broor Sinnexsen, Andries Andersen, Seneca Broor, and
Gysbert Walraven) and New Castle Hundreds (e.g., Derek Fransen, Hendrick Lemmens,
William Jans, Jean Matson, Tyman Jansen, Pieter Claessen) reflect the Swedish and Dutch
character during the early settlement years of this portion of the state (Scharf 1888).

In 1664, English forces seized control of New Netherland. King Charles I subsequently
granted New Netherland to his brother James, Duke of York. For severa years following,
disputes between the English and the Dutch continued. In 1673, the Dutch regained control
of the area and Dutch Governor Colve established the Whorekil (Hoornkill) district court,
which encompassed present-day Kent and Sussex Counties. During this time, disputes
between the Duke of York and Lord Baltimore over land holdings were also brewing.
Interestingly, roughly three years prior, Lord Baltimore also created a new county, Durham,
which encompassed most of the state of Delaware and consequently, encroached on the Duke
of York’s holdings. Although the Dutch did manage to regain control of the area in 1673,
their success was only temporary. In 1674, the Maryland government dispatched a force of
40 individuals to attack the fort at Whorekil. The campaign was successful and the area once
again returned to English Rule.

In 1680, Governor Edmund Andros removed the land between Cedar Creek and Duck Creek
from Whorekil County to form St. Jones County. He also changed the name of the remaining
part of Whorekil County to Deale County. Through a series of land grants and promotions,
Governor Andros and the Duke of York encouraged settlement of Deale, especialy around
Whorekil and around the Indian River-Assawoman Bay area.

In 1681, King Charles |1 granted the Province of Pennsylvaniato William Penn. In response
to Penn's petition to the crown for land west of the Delaware River and Bay below
Pennsylvania, the Duke of York conveyed New Castle, St. Jones, and Deale Counties to
Penn. That same year, Penn changed the names of St. Jones and Deale Counties to Kent and
SusseX, respectively. In 1683, Penn founded the City of Dover, Delaware.

The year of Dover’s founding, Conrad Constantine patented a “ Cold Harbor” a 630-acre tract
situated along the north side of the Christina River. Constantine's tract included the future
site of Newport (Scharf 1888).
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Under Penn’'s directorship, a flood of English, Welsh, Scottish, and Scots-Irish settlers
entered the “lower” counties of Pennsylvania (i.e., present-day New Castle, Kent, and Sussex
Counties). Dutch, Swedish, and Finnish farmers gradually began to move inland, clearing
new tracts along the tributaries of the Delaware (Munroe 1984; Hoffecker 1977; Bridenbaugh
1976; Scharf 1888).

Accompanying this population shift was a shift in the economic base of the region. As the
English Empire integrated the Delaware valley more fully into its own vast economic
network, area farmers shifted from primarily subsistence activities to market-oriented
agriculture. The principal Swedish/Dutch grains (rye and barley) were replaced by corn and
English wheat. Even tobacco, which had been the region’s cash crop for several decades,
was eclipsed by an emerging market demand for wheat (Pursell 1958).

Throughout this period, waterways provided the primary mode of transportation. Since most
farms were located adjacent to streams, farmers were able to ship their grain directly to small
milling facilities that were located on the tributary rivers and creeks throughout the valley.
Two of the earliest such stations were located in New Castle (1658), and along the Red Clay
Creek (1679). After milling, wheat flour was transported to Philadel phia or shipped directly
to markets in the West Indies, southern Europe, or other parts of North America (Catts and
Kellogg 2000; Walzer 1972). Farms remained wholly dependent upon water-based
transportation until the first quarter of the eighteenth century, when overland trade routes first
began to emerge across the region.

During the early years of Penn’'s proprietorship, he established a system of “hundreds’,
which were clusters of farms roughly equivalent to townships in other states (Siders et al.
1991). Within the hundreds, lands were sold in parcels averaging 200-299 acres in size.
Farmhouses were usually located on high, well-drained soil, in proximity to a fresh water
source (either a spring or brook). Structures were typically earth-fast, log or wood-framed,
with a small minority of brick structures in urban areas. Land clearing on farms was
minimal, with small lots typically located close to the house and outbuildings, while the
majority of the property was kept in wood lot (De Cunzo and Catts 1990).

Starting in the early 1700s, population and development pressures abated and the Delaware
Valley entered a period of minimal growth. In the wake of the first thirty years of English
colonization, Philadelphia had emerged as the primary economic, political, and cultural
center of a broad “hinterland” stretching west to Lancaster, north to the Lehigh Valley, east
to southern New Jersey, and south to include all of modern Delaware (Lemon 1967; Walzer
1972).

While New Castle, Kent and Sussex Counties were inextricably linked to Philadelphia’s
markets, political and cultural ties between the southern and northern counties were strained.
For years, the southern counties had bemoaned their lack of a central judicial facility, while
the northern counties (Philadelphia, Chester, and Bucks) resented the control that the less
populous lower counties exercised over the General Assembly.
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In 1704, the three “lower” counties of Pennsylvania (New Castle, Kent, and Sussex Counties)
separated to form the colony that would later become the State of Delaware. The newly
formed colony of Delaware wanted greater independence from European control and
accordingly established its own government, albeit under English rule. The town of New
Castle, which had been the regional hub during the first decade of England’ s rule, became the
political center of the “lower counties,” and the seat of the new region’s General Assembly
(Munroe 1984).

B. Intensified and Durable Occupation (A.D. 1730 - A.D. 1770)

Throughout the eighteenth century, various water and land transportation networks continued
to arise across the state. As population in the northern part of the state continued to increase,
so did ways to transport people and goods. During this period, the settlement pattern evolved
to a more inland focus, reflecting the change from tobacco to grain agriculture in the early
eighteenth century. After disputes between William Penn and the Calverts of Maryland, the
county border was finally established with the drawing of the Mason-Dixon Line in the mid-
eighteenth century.

The first quarter of the eighteenth century is marked by an increase in the settlement of
inland areas and an attendant growth in the network of connecting roads. Largely, the period
1730-1770 represented an intensification of this trend, driven by a second influx of
immigration. Farms emerged throughout much of Delaware. Because of its combination of
excellent soils and access to markets, New Castle County evolved into a farm community,
characterized by its growing affluence and the numbers of artisans, professionals, and
merchants in its population (Main 1973). Throughout the eighteenth century, farming in
New Castle County consisted of a system of mixed husbandry, with grain grown to support
livestock (Lothrop, Custer, and De Santis 1987).

After the chartering of Wilmington in 1739, demographic patterns for New Castle County
begin to develop with the establishment of towns and villages along trade routes, especialy
at junctures. The largest communities formed from early mill stations along waterways and
were typically located at point where a major road crossed a tributary stream. By the 1770s,
over eight large commercial mills were in operation along the fast-flowing Brandywine River
(Cooper 1983). The construction of new roads improved connections between interior farms
and commercial centers, and as such, mill stations in the greater Wilmington area were aso
able to draw grain from as far away as Maryland and southeastern Pennsylvania (Lemon
1967).

Accompanying the growth and spread of the internal road system, hamlets also emerged at
major road crossings. Generally comprised of no more than a handful of dwellings, these
margina communities thrived because they offered necessary and secondary services to
travelers enroute to more remote areas. Typically, these small communities centered around
taverns and blacksmith/wheelwright shops (Lemon 1967).
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The changes that took place in the economy and settlement pattern of New Castle County
during this period were driven by a wave of English and Scots-Irish immigrants who arrived
in the region between 1725 and 1755. Most of these immigrants were indentured servants,
contracted to local farmers for a period of three to seven years of service (Munroe 1984). In
addition to these laborers, some Delaware farmers also owned African slaves (Catts and
Kellogg 2000). By 1740, the county’s population had ballooned to 6,000 people, eighty to
ninety percent of who were involved in some form of agriculture (De Cunzo and Catts 1990;
Egnal 1975).

In 1731, John Justis purchased one-half interest in 100 acres that, several years prior, had
been sold off from Conrad Constatine’s “Cold Harbor” tract. Four yearslater, in 1735, Justis
launched areal estate campaign to develop “Newport Ayre”. Lot sales were successful and
Newport Ayre grew. One of the earliest residents and investors in Newport’'s future was
James Latimer, a prominent merchant who promptly developed a wharf and store along the
Christina River after his arrival to Newport in 1736. Latimer’s store stock included grain,
flour, and other products from the surrounding area. The Latimer Family capitalized on
Philadel phia and West Indies shipping routes by established a packet line to transport goods
between Newport and Wilmington. By the end of the eighteenth century, Newport was well-
established as a Christina River port town and aso a Kings Highway stage coach stop
(Kurtze 1993).

During the later decades of the eighteenth century, many of New Castle County’s other
towns, such as Stanton, Newark, Christiana Bridge, and Aiken’s Tavern (aka. Glasgow) had
also reached varying degrees of stability. Collectively, these towns would contribute to
shaping the economic and political growth of the state.

C. Early Industrialization (A.D. 1770 - A.D. 1830)

During the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries, most of New Castle County
remained predominately agricultural in character; however, nascent industries emerging in
the communities of Brandywine Village, Wilmington, and Newport began to re-shape the
economic and social landscape of the lower Brandywine and Christina Rivers (Catts and
Kellogg 2000; Blume et al. 1990).

These shifts in the region’s mode of production occurred against a backdrop of fluctuating
agricultural markets and periods of conflict with England over taxation and trade-restrictions
against American farm-products in the British West Indies. Both the Revolutionary War and
the War of 1812 resulted in boycotts of American goods and blockades of American shipping
centers by British forces (Lindstrom 1978). These political and economic conflicts resulted
in profound changes to the cultural fabric of the entire Delaware region (Catts and Kellogg
2000).

The most significant and enduring effect of the Revolutionary War on Delaware was the
British blockade of the Delaware and Chesapeake Bays. The blockade forced regional
manufacturers and agriculturalists to shift from ocean-based international trade to land-based
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regiona trade in the Philadelphia - Delaware - Baltimore corridor. The emergence of this
trade network facilitated the growth and diversification of manufacturing and agricultural
goods throughout the region. In northern Delaware, much of this growth was localized to the
Piedmont region, where commercial growth surged from 1790 through 1810 (De Cunzo and
Catts 1990; Shaffer et al. 1988; Welsh 1956).

During the American Revolution, Iron Hill was the site of the only armed conflict in
Delaware. Known as the battle of Cooch’s Bridge, the battle was fought on September 3,
1777 around Iron Hill. The battle pitted a small force of American soldiers, about 800 men,
under the command of Brigadier General William Maxwell, against an English and Hessian
army of up to 20,000 men under the command of Lord Cornwallis (Catts 2005). The
American force harried and delayed the much larger force of British troops, which had
landed at Elkton, Maryland and was enroute to Philadelphia. The battle began southwest of
the hill and continued around the hill before the American forces broke off contact with the
British. A portion of the British force then camped on the hill for five days before
proceeding to Chadd’s Ford on the Brandywine River (Owen and Owen 1973; Vida 1988;
Catts 2005).

Although no battles were fought in Newport, the town was not removed from the war theater.
In September 1781, American forces marched from Chester (PA) to Head of Elk (MD) by
way of Newport. During the march, the town was utilized as an encampment site by the
Second Brigade. The following year, in August-September 1782, on the northward bound
march, four successive divisions of American soldiers camped at Newport (Rice and Brown
1972).

In the late 1780s, Gilpin's planning efforts for a canal through the neck of New Castle
County between Millington and the Bay once attracted the attention of regional business
leaders, as well as Philadelphians Benjamin Franklin and Benjamin Rush. In 1802, the
legidlatures of Maryland, Delaware and Pennsylvania approved the incorporation of the
Chesapeake and Delaware Canal Company. Asoriginally proposed, the canal would include
fourteen locks to connect the Christina River in Delaware with the Elk River at Welch Point,
Maryland. Ground breaking for the canal occurred in 1802; however, within two years' time,
construction was halted due to financial hardship. Roughly ten years later, in 1822, the canal
company was reorganized, and additional funds were raised and contributed by
Pennsylvania, Delaware, and Maryland. The United States Army Corps of Engineers was
also enlisted to assist with project redesign. The redesigned four-lock canal was placed on a
new route that ran westward from Newbold' s Landing Harbor (present-day Delaware City) to
the Back Creek branch of the Elk River in Maryland. Construction resumed in 1824 and
opened for use in 1829.

During the Early Republic years, important changes to the terrestrial transportation networks
of the Mid-Atlantic region. For northern Delaware, eastern Pennsylvania, and southwestern
New Jersey, the growing demands of settlement along the Delaware River encouraged the
continued expansion of efficient overland transportation routes between inland and coastal
regions. EXxisting transportation and commercial nodes throughout the region were quickly
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identified by land speculators, financiers, and roadway companies as lucrative areas for
roadway development.

One such node was Newport, which had the advantage of being an integral stop along King's
Highway and the Christina River.

In 1808, Delaware's first turnpike charter was granted to the Gap & Newport Turnpike
Company, which sought to construct a road that would connect Newport to Gap in Lancaster
County. The road, the predecessor to DE 41/PA 41 was constructed in two parts and was
designed to provide Newport with direct access to the agricultural production of Lancaster
County. The Gap (PA) to Delaware segment was constructed by a partnering Pennsylvania-
incorporated company (1807). By placing the turnpike's northern terminus at the
Philadelphia and Lancaster Turnpike?, it was hoped that the Gap & Newport Turnpike would
encourage some of Lancaster’s Philadelphia market-bound traffic to shift course and head
south into Delaware instead. From the onset, the project was plagued by various financial set
backs which were resolved through a combination of stock sales, state funding, lotteries. The
Gap and Newport turnpike was finally completed in 1818. As intended, the road was
successful in capturing some of Philadel phia market share since Newport provided Lancaster
suppliers with a closer and quicker location to sell inventory. Another road completed
around this time that encouraged commerce through Newport was the Wilmington and
Christiana Turnpike (1821), which ran through Newport by way of Market Street.

Other contemporaneous through northern New Castle County that were constructed around
the same time include the New Castle and Frenchtown Pike (1809-1814), the Wilmington
and Philadelphia Turnpike (chartered 1813), the Wilmington and Kennett Turnpike (1812-
1813), the Wilmington and Great Valley Turnpike (aka. Concord Pike, 1809-1813), and the
Elk and Christiana Turnpike (incorporated in 1813) and Lancaster Pike (1809-1817) (Arnott
et a. 2006; Burrow et al. 2003). Northern New Castle County’ s connectivity with Maryland
and Pennsylvaniaincreased substantially with the creation of these roads.

In contrast to the strides being made in local industry and transportation, agriculture was
beset by crises. Following a century of extensive farming, farm productivity dropped
dramatically during this period. Across New Castle County, eroded and exhausted fields
failed to produce significant yields, and as a result, many smaller, marginal farms were
abandoned or |eft fallow. A great many such properties were consolidated into large estates
by wealthy landowners.

In the early 1800s, national financial crises worsened prospects for local farmers. Hard-
pressed to support themselves even on a subsistence level, a considerable portion of the
working agrarian population either moved west to clear new areas or was absorbed into the
emergent industrial sector in and around Wilmington (De Cunzo and Catts 1990; Herman et

2 The Philadelphia and Lancaster Turnpike, completed in 1795, is credited with being the first long-distance,
macadam-paved road in the United States. The road runs through five Pennsylvania counties (Lancaster,
Chester, Delaware, Montgomery, and Philadelphia). Between the road’ s western terminus in Columbia (PA)
and Lancaster (PA), the road follows PA 462. Most of 62 miles of the turnpike between Lancaster and
Philadel phia coincides with present-day US 30.
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al. 1989; Lindstrom 1979; Hancock 1947). While population and agricultural growth leveled
in the period between 1810-1830 (Hancock 1947), by the end of the period, some local
agriculturalists had made productive in-roads by diversifying crop species. The popularity of
this technique increased during the following period (Lindstrom 1978).

D. Industrialization and Capitalization: 1830 to 1880

The years between 1830 and 1880 encompass the most complex and dynamic period of
socia and economic development in the history of northern Delaware. Improvements in
local and regional transportation, the continued expansion, and diversification of industrial
activities, the rise of Baltimore as a trading center, and the revolution in agriculture taking
place across the region all contributed to a shift away from market-dependence on
Philadel phia and a movement towards a more locally-based economy (Lindstrom 1978).

Delaware’s first railroad, the New Castle and Frenchtown Railroad, opened for service in
1831. Thisline, laid to replace the turnpike of the same name, ran between New Castle and
the Chesapeake Bay at Old Frenchtown Wharf in Maryland.

In 1838 and 1839, the Philadelphia, Wilmington & Baltimore Railroad (PW& B RR) reached
Newport and Newark, respectively. The arrival of the railroad line resulted in the decline of
water navigation along the Christina River, but did improve the overall transportation
network for the region.

During this period, the portions of New Castle County south/southwest of Wilmington was
redefined as the city’s “backcountry”. An intricate network of roads, railroads, and canas
encouraged the rise of new communities such as Delaware City and St. Georges. During the
1850s, a north-south rail link was extended from Wilmington to Dover, which sparked the
growth of towns such as Clayton, Townsend, Felton, and Harrington. Population growth
throughout New Castle and Kent Counties rose dramatically in and around devel oping towns.

Bolstered by new transportation routes, a large native and immigrant labor pool, and a ready
supply of raw materials, northern Delaware’'s industries grew and diversified at an
unprecedented rate during this period. Having devoted much of its resources to industrial
development, by the start of the Civil War, New Castle County boasted 380 manufactures
(De Cunzo and Catts 1990; Lindstrom 1978). Local facilities included grain mills, textile
mills, paper mills, powder mills, ironworks, ditting mills, wheel rights, cooperies, and
tanneries.

By the 1860s, Wilmington emerged as the state’'s most densely settled urban region. In
addition to its textile mills, the city was also becoming a leading manufacturer of
transportation-related equipment such as carriages, railroad cars, and iron ships (Hoffecker
1977). Similar industries and commercial enterprises were also successful in secondary
towns like Newport, Newark, New Castle, and Delaware City.
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These dramatic changes in industry were paralleled by important shifts in agricultural
practicesin the region’s hinterland. After abandoning its market reliance on wheat exports to
Philadel phia during the first quarter of the century, the farm economy of northern and central
Delaware restructured itself around a diversified and locally consumed produce base in the
middle of the century. By providing fruits, meat and dairy items to the new urban marketsin
Wilmington, farmers in New Castle County rebounded from the stagnancy of the past
decades. In the Piedmont region of New Castle County, dairy farming supplanted livestock
raising as the principal agricultural activity (Bidwell and Falconer 1941).

From a productivity standpoint, the most important change to local agriculture was the
adoption of progressive farming techniques. Local farmers incorporated modern farm
machinery, fertilization, and drainage measures to significantly increase productivity while
simultaneously employing less human labor. These methods also helped to bring margina
regions that had been abandoned during the last period back under cultivation. By the end of
the period, New Castle farmers had managed to cultivate over ninety percent of the county’s
total acreage (De Cunzo and Catts 1990).

During this agricultural revolution, roughly half of the farms in New Castle County were
worked by tenant laborer families. Tenancy took many forms, but it can be defined generally
as the working of a plot of land in exchange for arent and/or a portion of theyield. Begunin
the late-eighteenth century, its practice became pervasive after the crop disasters and
economic crises of the previous period concentrated large tracts of land into the hands of
wealthy landowners who were either unable, or disinclined, to work the land by themselves
(Siderset al. 1991).

While tenancy left no clearly recognizable farm “type’, its effects upon the agricultural
landscape of the late nineteenth century were profound (Siders et al. 1991). Most notably,
tenancy, or rather, the concomitant rise of an agricultural class-system, led to arebuilding of
the local landscape that reflected the ideas, values, and beliefs of the landed €elite. By
examining the layout of farms of this period, researchers have demonstrated that while the
size of the average farm in northern New Castle County shrank to 79 acres during this period,
farmhouses and outbuildings virtually doubled in size (Siders et al. 1991; Herman et al.
1989). This was especialy true for old “landed” families, whose rebuilt or remodeled hall
and parlor homes, stone bank barns, and corn cribs communicated, “the new values of the
agricultural reform movement” (Herman et al. 1989).

E. Urbanization and Suburbanization: 1880 to 1940

General census figures from the turn of the century show that, for the first time in its history,
agriculture ceased to be the predominant occupation in the state. While a number of trade
occupations rose in importance during the years between 1870 and 1900, the largest shift
occurred between industry (rising from 23.5% to 31% of the state’'s work force) and
agriculture (declining from 39.5% to 26%) (De Cunzo and Catts 1990).
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The Christina River developed into a major modern industrial corridor with new operations
constructed along both sides of the river. Two such examples include the Krebs Pigment &
Color Company in Newport (est. 1902) and the Jessup & Moore Paper Company (est. 1879)
near the Christina River bridge in Wilmington (Clouse and Richmond 2012; L eedecker et al.
2011). Many of the riverfront’s industries established during the second and third quarters of
the nineteenth century were also expanded and/or reconfigured to take advantage of new
technologies and create new products (e.g., Waton, Whann & Co. Superphosphate Works —
LeeDecker et al. 2011).

Growth of a professional middle class sparked the formation of suburban communities in the
northern Wilmington areas (e.g., Claymont and Arden) as well as around Elsmere, Newport,
and Stanton. Landscaped suburbs grew in popularity with the introduction of the automobile
into mainstream life.

Nonetheless, agriculture continued to play an important role in the regional economy. The
trend towards non-staple crops, perishables, and truck farming initiated in the second quarter
of the nineteenth century continued in much of New Castle County, as new transportation
routes connected the region to emerging urban areas throughout the northeast.

The continued growth of the greater Wilmington area and secondary commercial/industrial
centers, like Newport, insured demands for dairy products from the Piedmont and produce
from the Coastal Plain. Thus agriculture continued to thrive well into the twentieth century.
Agricultural tenancy and sharecropping held even, with over half of all farms engaged in
some form of tenant arrangement at the turn of the century (De Cunzo and Catts 1990;
Shannon 1945).

By the turn of the century, the private turnpike system created roughly one hundred years
prior was unable to efficiently support the increasing volumes of motor vehicular traffic.
Loca governments began to take control of roads that fell into disrepair due to rising
maintenance costs. In 1903, the General Assembly passed a State Aid Law that outlined
provisions of a funding program for new road construction in Delaware. After the Federal
Highway Act and the establishment of the Delaware State Highway Department in 1917, a
diversity of large- and small-scale construction projects were undertaken to systematically
improve the state’ s roadways and bridges.

Paved roadways facilitated the timely transport of perishable fruits such as strawberries to
urban markets, along with poultry. In southern Delaware, ultimately the development of the
commercia broiler industry proved to be “one of the most significant events in the evolution
of Delaware commercial agriculture” that helped replace waning maritime interests (Lanier
and Herman 1992).

Delaware was centrally located in what was known as the “Middle Atlantic Trucking
Region” during the 1920s (Doerrfeld 1993). In excess of 900 miles long, this region
extended from the coast of Maine southward to the Low Country of South Carolina
(Doerrfeld et al. 1993). Averaging only 50 miles in width, this truck farming corridor owed
its existence to three factors: the string of large cities and towns situated on the east coast
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which served as ready markets, soilsideally suited for the cultivation of fruits and vegetables,
and the “mild, semi-marine climate, having long frost-free seasons’ due to the regulating
effects of the Atlantic Ocean (Doerrfield et. al 1993).

In 1924, the construction of du Pont Highway (or U.S. Route 13) was completed. This two-
land road between Wilmington and Delaware functioned as a vital north-south transportation
artery for the state and further enhanced Delaware’'s truck farming economy (Federal
Writers' Project 1938). This road was designated U.S. Route 13 after the 1926 creation of
the U.S. Highway System.

F. Suburbanization and Early Ex-Urbanization Period (1940 to 1960)

During the postwar era, New Castle County began to grow once again, mostly through the
construction of subdivisions.

While subdivisions and modern commercial properties have replaced much of the historic
landscape of the county, portions of northwestern and southern New Castle County still
manage to maintain some of their rural character. Evidence of the historic past is still evident
in many the county’ s towns like Newport, New Castle, Newark, Elsmere, and Stanton.
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